
           

NOTICE OF MEETING
CITY OF GARLAND, TEXAS

PLAN COMMISSION
City Hall, Council Chambers

William E. Dollar Municipal Building
200 N. Fifth Street

Garland, Texas
December 12, 2022 at 7:00 p.m.

 
A meeting of the Plan Commission of the City of Garland, Texas will be held at the
aforementioned location, date, and time to discuss and consider the following agenda
items.

A pre-meeting will begin at 5:45 p.m. at the same location as the regular meeting.  The
agenda for the pre-meeting is the same as for the regular meeting, and may include
additional items as set forth below.

 INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: It is the custom and tradition of the
members of the Plan Commission to have an invocation and recital of the Pledge of
Allegiance prior to the beginning of the meeting.  Members of the audience are invited to
participate.  However, members of the audience are not required to participate.  The
decision to participate is strictly a matter of personal choice and has no bearing on
matters to be considered by the Plan Commission and will not affect the decisions to be
made during the meeting.

The meeting will be broadcast on City of Garland Government Access Television
(CGTV).  CGTV is available via GarlandTX.gov, channel 16 (Spectrum), Channel 44
(Frontier), and channel 99 (AT&T U-verse).  Meetings are broadcast online via
live-streaming, on-demand, and air on CGTV with several rebroadcasts during the week
of the meeting. 

Public Comments
Your comments must relate to an item on this agenda - non-germane comments are not
in order.  Time limits will be imposed by the Chairman as appropriate to the nature of the
agenda item.  Generally, public speakers are given three minutes.



IN-PERSON COMMENTS: Registration will be required for any citizen wishing to speak.
Speakers shall register using the electronic registration kiosks in the lobby of City Hall.

Garland City Hall and Council Chambers are wheelchair accessible.  Special parking is
available on the east side of City Hall and on Austin & State Street west of City Hall. 
Persons with disabilities who plan to attend this meeting and who may need auxiliary
aids or services must contact the City Secretary's Office at (972) 205-2404 at least two
working days prior to the meeting so that appropriate arrangements can be made. 
BRAILLE IS NOT AVAILABLE.

If the Plan Commission adjourns into executive session during this meeting, the
executive session will be conducted between and among the members of the Plan
Commission and relevant City staff.  Public access to that meeting is prohibited by State
law.  
  

CONSENT AGENDA
 

All items under this section are recommended for approval by a single motion of the Plan
Commission, without discussion.  The Plan Commission has had the opportunity to
review each of these items during a pre-meeting.  The Chairman will announce the
agenda and provide an opportunity for members of the audience and the Plan
Commission to request that an item be removed and considered separately.
 

           
1. MINUTES   
 

a. Consider approval of the Plan Commission Minutes for the November 21, 2022
meeting.

 
2. MISCELLANEOUS   
 

a. Amendment to Plan Commission Meeting Schedule
 

ITEMS FOR INDIVIDUAL CONSIDERATION
 

Speaker Regulations:

Anyone wishing to speak for, against, or on agenda items must fill out a
speaker card and give it to the Plan Commission Secretary before speaking
(cards are located at the entrance to the Council Chambers).  The Chairman
will recognize speakers; he may impose a time limit and may provide for
rebuttal.  All comments and testimony are to be presented from the podium.

  

 



3. ZONING   
 

a. Consideration of the application of Claudia Rodriguez, requesting approval of 1) a
Change in Zoning from Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District to a Planned Development
(PD) District for Single-Family-7 (SF-7) Uses and 2) approval of a Specific Use
Provision for a Guest House. This property is located at 2112 Brookhollow Drive.
 (District 5) (File Z 22-17 – Zoning)    

 
b. Consideration of the application of Claudia Rodriguez, requesting approval of a

Detail Plan for a Guest House on a property zoned Single-family-7 (SF-7) District.
 This property is located at 2112 Brookhollow Drive.  (District 5) (File Z 22-17 –
Detail Plan)    

 
c. Consideration of the application of LandDesign, Inc., requesting approval of a

Change in Zoning from Agricultural (AG) District to a Planned Development (PD)
District for Light Commercial (LC) Uses. The property is located at the northeast
corner of Arapaho Road and Holford Road.  (District 7) (File Z 22-61 – Zoning)    

 
d. Consideration of the application of Quiddity Engineering, LLC., requesting

approval of 1) an Amendment to Planned Development (PD) District 21-34 for
Community Retail Uses and 2) a Specific Use Provision for a Restaurant,
Drive-Through Use.  This property is located at 5200 North Garland Avenue.
 (District 1) (File Z 22-63 – Zoning)

 
e. Consideration of the application of Quiddity Engineering, LLC., requesting

approval of a Detail Plan for a Restaurant, Drive-Through on a property zoned
Planned Development (PD) District 21-34 for Community Retail Uses. This
property is located at 5200 North Garland Avenue.  (District 1) (File Z 22-63 –
Detail Plan)

 
f. Consideration of the application of Matt Moore, requesting approval of a Specific

Use Provision for a Restaurant, Drive-Through Use. This property is located at
4680 North Shiloh Road.  (District 7) (File Z 22-64 – Specific Use Provision)    

 
g. Consideration of the application of Matt Moore, requesting approval of a Detail

Plan on a property zoned Planned Development (PD) District 20-35 for
Neighborhood Office Uses. This property is located at 4680 North Shiloh Road.
 (District 7) (File Z 22-64 – Detail Plan)

 
4. ADJOURN   
 



NOTICE: The Plan Commission may recess from the open session and convene in a closed session if the discussion of any of the listed
agenda items concerns matters regarding priviledged and unpriviiledged client information deemed confidential by Rule 1.05 of the Texas
Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct.  Sec. 551.071, Tex. Gov't Code.

NOTE: A quorum of the City Council may be in attendance and may or may not participate in the discussions of the Committee or board.



GARLAND
 

   
Plan Commission  1. a.        
Meeting Date: 12/12/2022  
Item Title: Plan Commission Minutes for November 21, 2022

Summary:
Consider approval of the Plan Commission Minutes for the November 21, 2022 meeting.

Attachments
Plan Commission Minutes for November 21, 2022 



 
Minutes of the Garland Plan Commission Meeting 

 
 
The Plan Commission of the City of Garland met in regular session on Monday, 
November 21, 2022 at 7:00 p.m., in the Council Chambers at the William E. Dollar 
Municipal Building (City Hall), with the following members present:  
 
 
 
COMMISSION PRESENT 

 
Chair     Scott Roberts 
1st Vice-Chair   Christopher Ott 
2nd Vice-Chair   Doug Williams 
Commissioner   Wayne Dalton 
Commissioner   Julius Jenkins 
Commissioner   Phillip Johnson 
Commissioner   Rich Aubin 
Commissioner   Michael Rose 

       
STAFF PRESENT 

    
Deputy City Attorney  Shawn Roten 
Recording Secretary  Tracy Allmendinger 
Planning Director   Will Guerin 
Lead Development Planner Nabiha Ahmed 
Senior Planner   Nathaniel Barnett 
 

 
CONSENT AGENDA 
 

All items marked with asterisks (**) on the Consent Agenda 
were voted on at the beginning of the meeting. Chair Roberts 
read those items into the record. Motion was made by 
Commissioner Jenkins to approve the Consent Agenda as 
presented, seconded by Commissioner Dalton. Motion 
carried: 8 Ayes, 0 Nays.  

 
 
MINUTES 
 
1a. APPROVED** Consider approval of the Plan Commission Minutes for the 

November 7, 2022 meeting. 
 

PLATS 
 
2a. APPROVED** P 22--40 GHFC 2 Final Plat 
 
MISCELLANEOUS 
 
3a. APPROVED** Impact Fee Report  



Minutes of the Garland Plan Commission Meeting 
Garland, TX 

December 2, 2022 
P a g e  | 2 

 

 
ZONING 

 
4a. APPROVED Consideration of the application of Golden Franchising 

Corporation, requesting approval of a Specific Use Provision 
for a Restaurant, Drive-Through on a property zoned 
Community Retail (CR) District.  This property is located at 6102 
North Jupiter Road.  (District 7) (File Z 22-44 – Specific Use 
Provision)  
  
Representing the applicant Mark Parmalee, 1131 Rockingham, 
Richardson, Texas, and Kelly Harbacheck, 3535 Bluffs Lane, 
#10105, Grapevine, Texas, provided an overview of the request, 
and remained available for questions. 
 
There was discussion between the Plan Commission and Mr. 
Parmalee regarding project timing, proposed drive-through only 
design, screening and vegetation, trash and emanating odors, 
lighting, receptacle placement, and public outreach with the 
adjacent neighborhood.  
 
Residents speaking in opposition:  
Craig Hastings, 3218 W. Campbell Road, Garland, Texas 
Alex Hastings, 3204 W. Campbell Road, Garland, Texas 
 
 
Residents raised concerns regarding trash, dumpster location, 
increase of rodents and potential hazards to wildlife as a result 
of poisons used to eliminate the rodents, erosion and storm 
water run-off, traffic, storm water/culvert drainage proposal and 
preservation of the trees. 
 
Mr. Hastings spoke to the encroachment onto his property by 
the developer. 
 
Also representing the applicant, Mr. Mathew Thomas, 2507 
Heather Glen Court, Colleyville, Texas, stated the driveway 
belongs to the City of Richardson. Mr. Thomas has been 
working with the City of Richardson Traffic Engineering 
Department and the criteria for driveway spacing, and remaining 
conditions have been approved.  Additionally, his understanding 
is the survey is correct, and they will protect as many trees as 
possible. 
 
Motion was made by Commissioner Rose to close the public 
hearing and to approve the request.  Seconded by  
Commissioner Williams. Motion carried: 8 Ayes, 0 Nay. 
 



Minutes of the Garland Plan Commission Meeting 
Garland, TX 

December 2, 2022 
P a g e  | 3 

 

 
4b. APPROVED Consideration of the application of Golden Franchising 

Corporation, requesting approval of a Plan for a Restaurant, 
Drive-Through on a property zoned Community Retail (CR) 
District.  This property is located at 6102 North Jupiter Road.  
(District 7) (File Z 22-44 – Plan) 
 
Motion was made by Commissioner Rose to close the public 
hearing and to approve the request.  Seconded by  
Commissioner Williams. Motion carried: 8 Ayes, 0 Nay. 
 

4c. APPROVED Consideration of the application of Winkelmann & Associates, 
Inc., requesting approval of a Detail Plan for Multi-family/Mixed-
use development. This item may include amendments to 
Planned Development (PD) District 22-25. This property is 
located at 6302 Greenbelt Parkway.  (District 4) (File Z 22-51 – 
Detail Plan) 
 
Representing the applicant Ross Frankfurt, 13101 Preston 
Road, #150, Dallas, Texas, provided an overview of the request 
and remained available for questions.  
 
There was discussion between the Plan Commission and Mr. 
Frankfurt regarding possible retail development on the south 
side of the subject property, location of the Sky Lounge for 
residence, possibility of retail use on the ground floor, and the 
greenbelt biking/walking path.  
 
Motion was made by Commissioner Aubin to close the public 
hearing and open for discussion. Seconded by Commissioner 
Jenkins. Motion carried: 8 Ayes, 0 Nay. 
 
Commissioners Aubin, Ott, and Chairman Roberts spoke in 
favor of the request.  
 
Motion was made by Commissioner Aubin approve the request 
for a Detail Plan for Multi-family/Mixed-use development. 
Seconded by Commissioner Dalton. Motion carried: 8 Ayes, 0 
Nay. 
 

4d. APPROVED Consideration of the application of Hanan Salman, requesting 
approval of an amendment to Planned Development (PD) 
District 03-47 for Community Retail Uses, to allow a 
Contractor’s Office/Warehouse (indoors only).  This property is  
located at 3065 Forest Lane.  (District 6) (File Z 22-52 – Zoning) 
 
 
 



Minutes of the Garland Plan Commission Meeting 
Garland, TX 

December 2, 2022 
P a g e  | 4 

 

 
The applicant Hanan Salman, 501 Waterside Way, Murphy, 
Texas, provided an overview of the request and remained 
available for questions.   
 
There was discussion between Chairman Roberts, 
Commissioner Rose, and Ms. Salman regarding the possibility 
of allowing additional retail use on the property off of Forest 
Lane, and signage.   
  
Motion was made by Commissioner Williams to close the public 
hearing and approve the request per staff recommendation.  
Seconded by Commissioner Aubin. Motion carried: 8 Ayes, 0. 
 

4e. APPROVED Consideration of the application of Hanan Salman, requesting 
approval of a Detail Plan for a Contractor’s Office/Warehouse 
(indoors only).  This property is located at 3065 Forest Lane.  
(District 6) (File Z 22-52 – Detail Plan) 

 
Motion was made by Commissioner Williams to close the public 
hearing and approve the request per staff recommendation.  
Seconded by Commissioner Aubin. Motion carried: 8 Ayes, 0. 
 
      

ADJOURNMENT  
 
There being no further business to come before the Plan 
Commission, the meeting adjourned at 8:18 p.m.  
 
City of Garland, Texas 
 
Approved: 
 
      
Chairman    
 
Attested: 
 
      
Recording Secretary 



GARLAND
 

   
Plan Commission  2. a.        
Meeting Date: 12/12/2022  
Item Title: Amendment to Plan Commission Meeting Schedule

Summary:
Amendment to Plan Commission Meeting Schedule

Background/Additional Information:
It is proposed to reschedule the November 27, 2023 Plan Commission meeting to November
20, 2023. The change is necessary due to the City Council having their second Regular
meeting in December on December 12 rather than December 19, and accommodating public
notifications for zoning cases accordingly as mandated by State law.



GARLAND
 

   
Plan Commission  3. a.        
Meeting Date: 12/12/2022  
Item Title: Z 22-17 Claudia Rodriguez - Zoning (District 5)

Summary:
Consideration of the application of Claudia Rodriguez, requesting approval of 1) a Change in
Zoning from Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District to a Planned Development (PD) District for
Single-Family-7 (SF-7) Uses and 2) approval of a Specific Use Provision for a Guest House.
This property is located at 2112 Brookhollow Drive.  (District 5) (File Z 22-17 – Zoning)    

Attachments
Z 22-17 Claudia Rodriguez Report and Attachments (Zoning) 
Z 22-17 Claudia Rodriguez Responses 



 

Planning Report 
File No: Z 22-17/District 5 
Agenda Item: 
Meeting: Plan Commission 
Date: December 12, 2022 
 
REQUEST 
Approval of a Change in Zoning from Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District to a Planned 
Development (PD) District for Single-Family-7 (SF-7) Uses. 
 
Approval of a Specific Use Provision for a Guest House on a property zoned Single-Family-7 
(SF-7) District. 
 
Approval of a Detail Plan for a Guest House on a property zoned Single-family-7 (SF-7) 
District. 

 
 

LOCATION 
2112 Brookhollow Drive 
 
 
APPLICANT 
Claudia Rodriguez 
 

 
OWNER 
Claudia Rodriguez 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
This site is zoned Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District and is developed with a single-family 
dwelling and the guest house. The applicant purchased the property with the guest house 
and was unaware that the guest house was built without a Specific Use Provision. 
Therefore, an SUP is being requested for the guest house to comply with the GDC 
requirement.  The applicant’s family member currently resides in the guest house. 

 
SITE DATA 
The site contains approximately 0.22 acres with approximately seventy (70) lineal feet of 
frontage along Brookhollow Drive and ninety-five (95) lineal feet of frontage along 
Briarwood Drive. The property has access from Brookhollow Drive and Briarwood Drive. 
 
 
USE OF PROPERTY UNDER CURRENT ZONING 
The subject property is zoned Single-Family (SF-7) District which allows single-family 
residential use. The Single-Family Residential districts are intended to provide for 
development of primarily low-density detached, single-family residences on a variety of lot 
sizes, churches, schools, and public parks in logical, livable, and sustainable 
neighborhoods. Further, the SF-7 District allows a Guest House with approval of a Specific 
Use Provision through a public hearing by Plan Commission and City Council. 
 
 



Page 2 of 3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CONSIDERATIONS 
 

1. Detail Plan: The applicant requests a 498-square foot Guest House, to be located 
behind the primary house.  The primary house is 1,404 square feet. 
 
The Garland Development Code (GDC)  defines Guest House as an incidental, on-site 
dwelling unit that is either attached or detached from the primary residential structure, 

is used for temporary occupancy by guests or relatives of the owners of the property, is 
not for rent, is incidental to the main structure (the building area does not exceed 
thirty (30) percent of the floor area of the main structure), and is not involved in the 
conduct of a business. 
 
Per the definition, the Guest House area cannot exceed more than thirty (30%) percent 

of the primary structure footprint. Therefore, the maximum area allowed is 421 square 
feet. The applicant requests to deviate from the maximum requirement and allow the 
Guest House to be 498 square feet as it currently exists. 
 
In addition, the rear building setback not adjacent to street is ten (10) feet. The 
existing guest house is four (4) feet from the rear property line.  

 

2. Parking: The GDC establishes a parking ratio of one (1) space for the Guest House and 
two (2) enclosed spaces for the proposed single-family home. The site plan (Exhibit C 
in the Plan item) shows a total of three (3) parking spaces.  
 

3. Building Design: The design of the building complies with the applicable building 
design regulations of GDC.  

 

4. Specific Use Provision: The applicant requests a Specific Use Provision to be valid for 
an indefinite time period. The SUP time period guide recommends between five (5) 
years to unlimited. 

 
5. Summary Table: 

 

Development 

Standards 

Required  Proposed Applicant’s 

Justification 

Building Area 
 
 
 
 
 

Rear Building  
Setback 

421 SF (maximum 
allowed) 
 
 
 
 

 
10 feet 

498 SF 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 feet 

The applicant 
purchased the 
property with the 
existing guest 
house.  

 
 
 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 



Page 3 of 3 
 
The Future Land Use Plan of the Envision Garland 2030 Comprehensive Plan designates 
this site for Traditional Neighborhoods. Traditional Neighborhoods are currently found 
throughout Garland and provide areas for low to moderate density single-family detached 
residential housing. 

Traditional Neighborhoods also accommodate convenience retail (goods and services), 
office space, and public services. Non-residential structures are compatible in architectural 
style and scale with adjacent residential development. Non-residential uses are typically 
located at the intersection of local streets or at local and secondary arterial streets. Non-
residential uses are within walking distance of the neighborhoods they serve and include 
minimal on-site parking. 

The request is compatible with the Comprehensive Plan. 

COMPATIBILITY OF REQUEST WITH SURROUNDING ZONING AND LAND USES 
The properties to the north, east, south and west are zoned Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District 
and they are developed with single-family detached homes.  
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

While consideration should be given to adhering to the size and setback requirements for 
Guest Houses, the structure is existing and the deviations are relatively minor. Therefore, 
staff recommends approval of a Change in Zoning from Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District to a 
Planned Development (PD) District for Single-Family-7 (SF-7) Uses. 
 
Approval of a Specific Use Provision for a Guest House on a property zoned Single-Family-7 

(SF-7) District. 
 
Approval of a Detail Plan for a Guest House on a property zoned Single-family-7 (SF-7) 
District. 
 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

i. Location Map 
ii. PD and SUP Conditions 
iii. Photos 
 
 
CITY COUNCIL DATE: January 10, 2023 
 

PREPARED BY:     REVIEWED BY: 
Nabiha Ahmed Will Guerin, AICP 
Lead Development Planner Director of Planning 
Planning & Community Development  
972-205-2453  
nahmed@garlandtx.gov  

mailto:nahmed@garlandtx.gov


S FIFTH ST

BRIARWOOD DR

CARMEN DR

GLENDALE DR

BROOKHOLLOW DR

W DAUGHERTY DR

EVERGREEN ST

RICHMOND ST

MONTIER DR

DELA
NO DR

W RIDGEWOOD DR

SKILLMAN DR

S F - 7S F - 7

S F - 7S F - 7

514

2056

2108

2101

2120

2117

2057

417

2112

2225

2100

518

2124

2152

413

505

2165

2100

2113

2061

2108

414

501

2156

526

508

2052

2104

2105

2109 2112

2128

2133

418

2137

2305 422

2105

421

2052

522

2053

517

510

513

2060

602

504

421

2104

2148

20642065

500

2226

2101

2309

2301

2161

2225

2109

509

ZONING MAP Z 22-17 INDICATES AREA
OF REQUEST

¯
0 110 220 Feet 1 inch = 168 feet

I

2112 Brookhollow Drive



EXHIBIT B 

 
PLANNED DEVELOPMENT CONDITIONS 

 
 

ZONING FILE Z 22-17 
 

2112 Brookhollow Drive 
 
I. Statement of Purpose: The purpose of this Planned 

Development is to approve a Detail Plan for a Guest 

House. 

 
II. Statement of Effect:  This Planned Development shall 

not affect any regulation found in the Garland 
Development Code, Ordinance No. 6773, as amended prior 
to adoption of this ordinance, except as specifically 
provided herein. 

 

III. General Regulations: All regulations of the Single-

Family-7 (SF-7) District as set forth in Chapter 2 of 

the Garland Development Code are included by reference 

and shall apply, except as otherwise specified by this 

ordinance. 

 
IV. Development Plans: 

 

Detail Plan: Development shall be in general 

conformance with the Detail Plan labeled Exhibit C 

through Exhibit D. In the event there is conflict 

between the approved Detail Plan and the Specific 

Regulations below, the Specific Regulations shall 

apply.  

 
 V. Specific Conditions: 
  

A. Permitted Uses: Land Uses are permitted as in the 
Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District.  

 

B. Building Area: The maximum building area for the 

Guest House shall be 498 square feet. 

 

C. Site Plan: The site layout, building placement, 

parking shall be in general conformance with the 

approved Site Plan labeled Exhibit C. 

 

D. Elevations: Building Elevations shall be in general 
conformance with the elevations labeled Exhibit D.  

 

 

 

 
 
 



PD/SUP Requirements 
Zoning File 22-17 
Page 2 

EXHIBIT B 

 
 
 
 

 
SPECIFIC USE PROVISION CONDITIONS 

 
 

ZONING FILE Z 22-17 
 

                2112 Brookhollow Drive 
 
 

I. Statement of Purpose:  The purpose of this Specific 
Use Provision is to allow a Guest House. 

 
II. Statement of Effect:  This Specific Use Provision 

shall not affect any regulations found in the Garland 
Development Code, Ordinance No. 6773, as amended prior 
to the adoption of this ordinance, except as 
specifically provided herein. 
 

III. Abandonment:   In the event the land use for which this 
Specific Use Provision was granted (“Land Use”) is 
abandoned, the SUP and all rights to the Land Use are 
automatically terminated, and the premises must be used 
in conformance with the PD, GDC, federal, and state 
law.  
 
For the purposes of this Specific Use Provision, 
Abandonment is any of the following acts: 
 

 
A. A failure to apply for a site or building permit on 

the premises, where applicable, within 180 days of 
the effective date of this SUP; 
 

B. A failure to obtain a certificate of occupancy for 
the Land use within 730 days of the effective date 
of this SUP; 
 

C. A failure to commence operating the Land Use on the 
premises within 90 days of receiving a final 
certificate of occupancy for the Land Use; 

 
D. Discontinuance of the Land Use for a period of 180 

days; 
 

E. Applying for, and receiving, a new Certificate of 
Occupancy for a use other than the Land Use; or 

 

F. Operating a use on the premises, whether as a 
primary or secondary use, that is not allowed within 
the PD District, by the GDC, or by state or federal 
law. 



PD/SUP Requirements 
Zoning File 22-17 
Page 2 

EXHIBIT B 

 

The termination of utilities on the premises for a 
period of 180 calendar days is prima facie evidence of 
abandonment and the owner shall have the burden to 
prove that the Land Use has not been abandoned. 

 

 

IV. General Regulations:  All regulations of the Single-
Family-7 (SF-7) District as set forth in Chapter 2 of 
the Garland Development Code, Ordinance 6773, are 
included by reference and shall apply, except as 
otherwise specified by this ordinance. 

 

V. Development Plans: 
 

Site Layout: The site shall be in general conformance 
with the approved Site Plan and Elevations labeled 
Exhibit C and Exhibit D. In the event of conflict 
between the conditions and the site plan, the written 
conditions listed below are to apply. 
 

 
V. Specific Use Provision: 
 

E. SUP Time Period: The Specific Use Provision for a 
Guest House shall be in effect for an indefinite 

time period. 

 

 

 
 

 



 

   
 

 

Z 22-17 
 

  

View of the main house from Brookhollow Drive 

  

View of the Guest House  

 
 

 

 

View of the Guest House from Briarwood Drive  Looking south of the subject property 



S FIFTH ST

BRIARWOOD DR

CARMEN DR

GLENDALE DR

BROOKHOLLOW DR

W DAUGHERTY DR

EVERGREEN ST

RICHMOND ST

MONTIER DR

DELA
NO DR

W RIDGEWOOD DR

SKILLMAN DR

S F - 7S F - 7

S F - 7S F - 7

514

2056

2108

2101

2120

2117

2057

417

2112

2225

2100

518

2124

2152

413

505

2165

2100

2113

2061

2108

414

501

2156

526

508

2052

2104

2105

2109 2112

2128

2133

418

2137

2305 422

2105

421

2052

522

2053

517

510

513

2060

602

504

421

2104

2148

20642065

500

2226

2101

2309

2301

2161

2225

2109

509

ZONING MAP Z 22-17 INDICATES AREA
OF REQUEST

¯
0 110 220 Feet 1 inch = 168 feet

INDICATES 
NOTIFICATION AREA

2112 Brookhollow Drive



To date we have not received any responses for this case. 



GARLAND
 

   
Plan Commission  3. b.        
Meeting Date: 12/12/2022  
Item Title: Z 22-17 Claudia Rodriguez - Detail Plan (District 5)

Summary:
Consideration of the application of Claudia Rodriguez, requesting approval of a Detail Plan
for a Guest House on a property zoned Single-family-7 (SF-7) District.  This property is located
at 2112 Brookhollow Drive.  (District 5) (File Z 22-17 – Detail Plan)    

Attachments
Z 22-17 Claudia Rodriguez Report and Attachments (Detail Plan) 
Z 22-17 Claudia Rodriguez Responses 



 

Planning Report 
File No: Z 22-17/District 5 
Agenda Item: 
Meeting: Plan Commission 
Date: December 12, 2022 
 
REQUEST 
Approval of a Change in Zoning from Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District to a Planned 
Development (PD) District for Single-Family-7 (SF-7) Uses. 
 
Approval of a Specific Use Provision for a Guest House on a property zoned Single-Family-7 
(SF-7) District. 
 
Approval of a Detail Plan for a Guest House on a property zoned Single-family-7 (SF-7) 
District. 

 
 

LOCATION 
2112 Brookhollow Drive 
 
 
APPLICANT 
Claudia Rodriguez 
 

 
OWNER 
Claudia Rodriguez 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
This site is zoned Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District and is developed with a single-family 
dwelling and the guest house. The applicant purchased the property with the guest house 
and was unaware that the guest house was built without a Specific Use Provision. 
Therefore, an SUP is being requested for the guest house to comply with the GDC 
requirement.  The applicant’s family member currently resides in the guest house. 

 
SITE DATA 
The site contains approximately 0.22 acres with approximately seventy (70) lineal feet of 
frontage along Brookhollow Drive and ninety-five (95) lineal feet of frontage along 
Briarwood Drive. The property has access from Brookhollow Drive and Briarwood Drive. 
 
 
USE OF PROPERTY UNDER CURRENT ZONING 
The subject property is zoned Single-Family (SF-7) District which allows single-family 
residential use. The Single-Family Residential districts are intended to provide for 
development of primarily low-density detached, single-family residences on a variety of lot 
sizes, churches, schools, and public parks in logical, livable, and sustainable 
neighborhoods. Further, the SF-7 District allows a Guest House with approval of a Specific 
Use Provision through a public hearing by Plan Commission and City Council. 
 
 



Page 2 of 3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CONSIDERATIONS 
 

1. Detail Plan: The applicant requests a 498-square foot Guest House, to be located 
behind the primary house.  The primary house is 1,404 square feet. 
 
The Garland Development Code (GDC)  defines Guest House as an incidental, on-site 
dwelling unit that is either attached or detached from the primary residential structure, 

is used for temporary occupancy by guests or relatives of the owners of the property, is 
not for rent, is incidental to the main structure (the building area does not exceed 
thirty (30) percent of the floor area of the main structure), and is not involved in the 
conduct of a business. 
 
Per the definition, the Guest House area cannot exceed more than thirty (30%) percent 

of the primary structure footprint. Therefore, the maximum area allowed is 421 square 
feet. The applicant requests to deviate from the maximum requirement and allow the 
Guest House to be 498 square feet as it currently exists. 
 
In addition, the rear building setback not adjacent to street is ten (10) feet. The 
existing guest house is four (4) feet from the rear property line.  

 

2. Parking: The GDC establishes a parking ratio of one (1) space for the Guest House and 
two (2) enclosed spaces for the proposed single-family home. The site plan (Exhibit C 
in the Plan item) shows a total of three (3) parking spaces.  
 

3. Building Design: The design of the building complies with the applicable building 
design regulations of GDC.  

 

4. Specific Use Provision: The applicant requests a Specific Use Provision to be valid for 
an indefinite time period. The SUP time period guide recommends between five (5) 
years to unlimited. 

 
5. Summary Table: 

 

Development 

Standards 

Required  Proposed Applicant’s 

Justification 

Building Area 
 
 
 
 
 

Rear Building  
Setback 

421 SF (maximum 
allowed) 
 
 
 
 

 
10 feet 

498 SF 
 
 
 
 
 

 
4 feet 

The applicant 
purchased the 
property with the 
existing guest 
house.  

 
 
 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 



Page 3 of 3 
 
The Future Land Use Plan of the Envision Garland 2030 Comprehensive Plan designates 
this site for Traditional Neighborhoods. Traditional Neighborhoods are currently found 
throughout Garland and provide areas for low to moderate density single-family detached 
residential housing. 

Traditional Neighborhoods also accommodate convenience retail (goods and services), 
office space, and public services. Non-residential structures are compatible in architectural 
style and scale with adjacent residential development. Non-residential uses are typically 
located at the intersection of local streets or at local and secondary arterial streets. Non-
residential uses are within walking distance of the neighborhoods they serve and include 
minimal on-site parking. 

The request is compatible with the Comprehensive Plan. 

COMPATIBILITY OF REQUEST WITH SURROUNDING ZONING AND LAND USES 
The properties to the north, east, south and west are zoned Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District 
and they are developed with single-family detached homes.  
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

While consideration should be given to adhering to the size and setback requirements for 
Guest Houses, the structure is existing and the deviations are relatively minor. Therefore, 
staff recommends approval of a Change in Zoning from Single-Family-7 (SF-7) District to a 
Planned Development (PD) District for Single-Family-7 (SF-7) Uses. 
 
Approval of a Specific Use Provision for a Guest House on a property zoned Single-Family-7 

(SF-7) District. 
 
Approval of a Detail Plan for a Guest House on a property zoned Single-family-7 (SF-7) 
District. 
 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

i. Location Map 
ii. PD and SUP Conditions 
iii. Photos 
 
 
CITY COUNCIL DATE: January 10, 2023 
 

PREPARED BY:     REVIEWED BY: 
Nabiha Ahmed Will Guerin, AICP 
Lead Development Planner Director of Planning 
Planning & Community Development  
972-205-2453  
nahmed@garlandtx.gov  

mailto:nahmed@garlandtx.gov


S FIFTH ST

BRIARWOOD DR

CARMEN DR

GLENDALE DR

BROOKHOLLOW DR

W DAUGHERTY DR

EVERGREEN ST

RICHMOND ST

MONTIER DR

DELA
NO DR

W RIDGEWOOD DR

SKILLMAN DR

S F - 7S F - 7

S F - 7S F - 7

514

2056

2108

2101

2120

2117

2057

417

2112

2225

2100

518

2124

2152

413

505

2165

2100

2113

2061

2108

414

501

2156

526

508

2052

2104

2105

2109 2112

2128

2133

418

2137

2305 422

2105

421

2052

522

2053

517

510

513

2060

602

504

421

2104

2148

20642065

500

2226

2101

2309

2301

2161

2225

2109

509

ZONING MAP Z 22-17 INDICATES AREA
OF REQUEST

¯
0 110 220 Feet 1 inch = 168 feet

I

2112 Brookhollow Drive



I rns11Nu ma 1----1 

0::: 
C 

~ 
...J 
...J 
0 
:I: 
~ 
0 

~ 
m 

t-~-~ra¥r~·~·~-==-.,..~ 
_'._'-------1[ I I STORAGE ,.; L :ar....r ; 

- COICIO£l't -· ............ 
PA-

EXISTING PORCH I EXISTING 
AREA: 59.0 SQ.FT. ONE STORY HOUSE 

-
LMNGAREA 

:1,404.0 SQ.FT. 

EXISTING 
WOODEN 

DECK 

-
...... 

....... ________ _,_ ____ !-1::':.~-:!"'- - - - EXtS-TlNG-eAR-J>OR-i'?'////«'4 
AREA : 218.0 SQ.FT.' 

·' - -
s.-irarw -..-,-

BRIARWOOD DR 

SITE PLAN 
SCALE: 1/16" = 1'-0" 

PROJECT DATA 

PR0.1:Cf t--Wlt: 

~55: 

Wf No.: 

l?l.CUNo.: 

f:Xl511Nu MOlrfR IN L.AW 
fO Bf: Jif P AJJifO 

2112 BRGal-UL.GW OR 

2 

Cil.f5fl-laft Pm!Nu 5PNX5: 

AREAS IN SQUARE FEET 

f;Xf5flNCi L.IVINCi M?i-A: 1,401-.0 sq\;. 

rnsf!Nu PORCH M?i-A: '79.0 sqf\;. 

EXl511Nu Cil.f5f li'.i1.J5f; N?i-A : -496.0 sq\;, 

1':Xl5f1Nu Of.. Pm' N?i-A: 216.0 sq\;. 

l':Xl511Nu CCNl':JifO PAflO M?i-A : 61.Q sq\;. 

f;Xf5flNCi Wfa-w-JIOl. RM N?i-A : 4~ .0 sq\;. 

'I 

, .. 
£ 
-DES I GN 

I
L_..,.. ___ __ ____ ,. __ 
__ y __ , ___ 

L----------------------.....,,, __ ._. ___ '° _ 
__ a, __ _ 

•iu--OIOl----11111_,_ ___ _ ____ lltU. __ _ 

---.-.--... 
-FOtlr-

(22(/113-3} 

N 

® 
EXISTING AIODER IN LAW 

TOBEl<E1"NIEO 

Z112 BROO«HCJU.CM'DR. 
GIIRlAM>. 1X1"1H1 

.,.,. l'lM 

....,_., 
012122 /II -01 -11-12 11,r • 1·-a· 

1 3 

I 
( 

Nabiha Ahmed
Text Box
EXHIBIT C



rl..f 

~ 

e•-o• Plate 

Floor Lewi 

CAR PORT 

f!Uff LIVING m 
KITCHENETTE 

rl..f 

EXISTING 
COMPOSITION SHINCI.ES 

5:12 

8 g_ c:::J c:::J 
c:::J c:::J 

£)OSTING SIDING c:::J c:::J 
c::J c::::J 

V ~ c:::J c:::J -t-

' 
'-../ 

OOSTINC 
6"x6" COLUMNS 

r 
r 

FRONT ELEVATION 
SCALE: 3/1~ = 1'-0" 

I c. ., 
I L 

r-r ,, .... . -

EXISTING FLOOR PLAN 

EXISTING 

---------
COMPOSITION SHINCI.ES 

4:12 

EB 
/ Floor Lewi 

4"x4" COLUMN 

SCALE: 3/16• = 1'-0" 

I 
a·-o· Plate I 

EXISTING METAL ROOF 
lO BE REPLACED 

!f 
: 

~ 

/ 
••••• COUJMN 

'!, 
i 

II ,. 
£ 
-DE SIGN 

-= 
--

t. ~~-E----l r- --~~ l 

-• 
- - _ -, -··•~-7 

eatmNGIIOJHmMLAW 
101EAEJ'IOIRB> 

:tt1t-,OU.OWDR 

r 

- ..,....__- - l 

_~·-=~~ .l --ml'TDII FUIIM JllM ~Tl-
-· 1--· 011111 # 

Ot •ll· lt :-a1ta• • t •-1· 

2 3 

Nabiha Ahmed
Text Box
EXHIBIT D



i; 
~ 

EXISfflG METAL ROOF 
TO BE REPLACED 

TO ROlL ON COMPOSITION 
SHINGLES 

EXISTING METAL ROOF 
TO BE REPLACED 

'!, 
,! 

~·.::-.9~.!'_l_a.!!. 

Floor Lewi --◄◄-

RIGHT 

\ 

c:J 
c:J 
c:J 
c:J 

ELEVATION 
SCALE : 3/16" = 1'-0" 

' \ ,: ~ 
COM EXISTING 

POSITION SHINQ.ES 

I 

.. 
,,: 

I\ 

G 
4"x4" COLUMN 

REAR 

11'-o• Plate 

l 

\ - Floor~ 

EXISTING 
4"x4" COLUMN 

4:12 

--

ELEVATION 
SCALE: 3/16" = 1'-0" 

EXISTING SIDING 

-
r -

r.J 
~ 

f:-~.!'!.O.!!. 

EXISTING 
SIDING E3 

Roar Lewi --.--------j-t-~,-----,t-1::1:1 

LEFT 

-

EXIS"ltlG 
e·xe· COUJMNS 

ELEVATION 
SCALE: 3/16" = 1'-0" 

EXISffiG 
COMPOSITION SHINQ.£5 

5:12 

EXISTING SIDING 

-- - ---

8' o· Plato 

- Roar Le!9' 

, .. 
£ 
-DESIGN 

--
--~---____ ,, __ __ ,, __ ,....,, _ ., _____ _ 
----------------------._....,.,. __ 
LIii.---~-_____ ,,,, __ _ 
-----...----------
---

~ff~ 

0 
EJIJSTING MOTHB< IV LAW 

TO BE REPAIRED 

Z112 MOOIOKJU.OI/I DR 
CWllAMJ, J)C 7ll041 

B.Pf'ATIONI 

-·· 01tl22 I# -~ 01 -11-.n sn•· • 1•,o· 

3 3 

Nabiha Ahmed
Text Box
EXHIBIT D



 

   
 

 

Z 22-17 
 

  

View of the main house from Brookhollow Drive 

  

View of the Guest House  

 
 

 

 

View of the Guest House from Briarwood Drive  Looking south of the subject property 



S FIFTH ST

BRIARWOOD DR

CARMEN DR

GLENDALE DR

BROOKHOLLOW DR

W DAUGHERTY DR

EVERGREEN ST

RICHMOND ST

MONTIER DR

DELA
NO DR

W RIDGEWOOD DR

SKILLMAN DR

S F - 7S F - 7

S F - 7S F - 7

514

2056

2108

2101

2120

2117

2057

417

2112

2225

2100

518

2124

2152

413

505

2165

2100

2113

2061

2108

414

501

2156

526

508

2052

2104

2105

2109 2112

2128

2133

418

2137

2305 422

2105

421

2052

522

2053

517

510

513

2060

602

504

421

2104

2148

20642065

500

2226

2101

2309

2301

2161

2225

2109

509

ZONING MAP Z 22-17 INDICATES AREA
OF REQUEST

¯
0 110 220 Feet 1 inch = 168 feet

INDICATES 
NOTIFICATION AREA

2112 Brookhollow Drive



To date we have not received any responses for this case. 



GARLAND
 

   
Plan Commission  3. c.        
Meeting Date: 12/12/2022  
Item Title: Z 22-61 LandDesign, Inc. - Zoning (District 7)

Summary:
Consideration of the application of LandDesign, Inc., requesting approval of a Change in
Zoning from Agricultural (AG) District to a Planned Development (PD) District for Light
Commercial (LC) Uses. The property is located at the northeast corner of Arapaho Road and
Holford Road.  (District 7) (File Z 22-61 – Zoning)    

Attachments
Z 22-61 LandDesign, Inc. Report and Attachments (Zoning) 
Z 22-61 LandDesign, Inc. Responses 



 

Planning Report 
File No: Z 22-61/District 7 
Agenda Item: 
Meeting: Plan Commission 
Date: December 12, 2022 
 
REQUEST 
Approval of a Change in Zoning from Agricultural (AG) District to a Planned Development (PD) 
District for Light Commercial Uses. 
 
 
LOCATION 
Northeast Corner of Arapaho Road Holford Road 
 
 
APPLICANT 
LandDesign, Inc. 
 
 
OWNER 
Woodlands of Spring Creek LP 
 
BACKGROUND 
The applicant proposes to rezone a 5.611-acre lot of Agricultural (AG) District land to a 
Planned Development (PD) District based in the Light Commercial (LC) District in order to 
attract commercial development. 
 
  
SITE DATA 
The site would contain 5.611 acres with approximately 700 lineal feet of frontage along both 
Arapaho and Holford Road.  

 
USE OF PROPERTY UNDER CURRENT ZONING 

The subject property is Agricultural (AG) District as the land is vacant and not yet 
developed.   

The Agricultural (AG) District is intended for vacant land which is not yet ready for 
development, land which is used for agricultural or open space purposes, land which due to 
its topography or location within a floodplain or other undevelopable area is not anticipated 
to be developed for more intense use, and land which has been newly annexed into the City 
of Garland. Land that has been newly annexed into the City is initially zoned Agricultural 
until it is zoned another more permanent zoning classification in the future. Single-family 
uses on large lots are appropriate in this district. 

 
CONSIDERATIONS 
  
Detail Plan: 
1. The applicant proposes to rezone the subject property from Agricultural (AG) District 

Land to a PD for Light Commercial (LC) Uses with certain land uses prohibited. 

Prohibited Land Uses: 



Page 2 of 3 
 

 Automobile Repair, Major 
 Automobile Sales, New and Used 
 Boat Sales, Leasing & Repair (outside storage) 
 Personal Watercraft Sales, Leasing & Repair (new and used) 
 Recreational Vehicle/Trailer Sales, Leasing & Repair 
 Meat and Game Processing 
 Laundry plant, commercial 
 Taxidermist 
 Alternative Financial Establishment 

 
 

2. The proposed Change of Zoning to a Planned Development (PD) District is only intended 
to regulate land uses. The request does not require a Detail Plan approval to commence 
or direct development. Development is dependent on the standards set forth by the 
Garland Development Code (GDC) and the goals and policies established within the 
Envision Garland 2030 Comprehensive Plan. Accordingly the GDC requires careful 
consideration as to how closely the proposed district follows the policies of the Envision 
Garland 2030 Comprehensive Plan, and to what degree the rezoning will impact 
surrounding and future development.   

 
3. The Light Commercial (LC) District is intended to provide locations for commercial and 

service-related establishments, such as building material and wholesale product sales, 
contractors' shops, automotive repair services, upholstery shops, and other similar 
commercial uses. Some light manufacturing uses may also be allowed subject to certain 
conditions. The uses envisioned for the district will typically have operation 
characteristics that are generally not compatible with residential uses and some 
nonresidential uses. Convenient access to major thoroughfares and other transportation 
systems is a primary consideration for the types of uses that are found in the 
Commercial districts. 

 
4. The applicant’s justification for the request is that demand is high for office/warehouse, 

while retail is struggling nationwide.  

 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
The Future Land Use Map of the Envision Garland Plan recommends Compact Neighborhoods 
for the subject site. Compact neighborhoods provide areas for moderate increases in 
residential density, including single-family attached and single-family detached housing. It 
expands housing options through infill and redevelopment, while continuing walkable 
development patterns. These areas provide transitions between traditional residential 
neighborhoods and higher density residential neighborhoods and non-residential 
developments. These areas accommodate uses such as convenience retail (goods and 
services), office space, and public services. The architectural character and scale of these 
areas are compatible with adjacent residential development.  
 
The proposed Light Commercial development is not consistent with the recommended uses 
for Compact Neighborhoods.   
 
 
COMPATIBILITY OF REQUEST WITH SURROUNDING ZONING AND LAND USES 
The properties across Holford Road are zoned Planned Development (PD) District 83-143 
and Planned Development (PD) District 99-49 for Residential (Single Family) Uses; these 
properties are developed with single-family homes. The properties across Arapaho Road are 
zoned Planned Development (PD) District 08-45 and Single Family (SF-7) District these 



Page 3 of 3 
 
properties are developed with a school, a church, and single-family homes. Properties to the 
east are zoned Planned Development (PD) District 21-01 for Multi-Family Uses [senior 
living]. The property to the north is vacant and zoned Agricultural (AG) District. 
 
The Light Commercial (LC) District is generally incompatible with the surrounding area, 
which is generally characterized by residential, institutional and educational uses. Examples 
of Light Commercial (LC) zones in Garland can be found along Lavon Drive, West Centerville 
Road, and IH-30. It should be noted that Holford Road is classified as a Type D thoroughfare 
which is a less intensive classification than the abovementioned roadways.  
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Given concerns about the Light Commercial (LC) District at this location, staff finds that the 
Neighborhood Services (NS) District would be a more appropriate zoning designation. A 
Planned Development with a base zoning of Community Retail (CR) District, with similar 
automotive use prohibitions, would also be more appropriate for the subject property and 
better align with the guidance of the Comprehensive Plan. 
 
However, should the Commission approve the applicant’s request for a Planned 
Development with Light Commercial base zoning, staff recommends that additional uses be 
prohibited including Car Wash (all types); Automobile Repair, Minor; and Light 
Industrial/Manufacturing.  
 
 
 
 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
i. Location Map 
ii. PD Conditions 
iii. Photos 
 
 
CITY COUNCIL DATE: January 10, 2023 
 
 
PREPARED BY:     REVIEWED BY: 
Matthew Wolverton Will Guerin, AICP 
Development Planner Director of Planning 
Planning & Development  
972-205-2454  
mwolverton@garlandtx.gov   

mailto:mwolverton@garlandtx.gov


2233 222122292225221722132209
22052201

2237

22102222
2226 221822302234

223822462242

2110
2122220222062210221422182222 2118

2226

21132109
21172125212122012205

213421302122

21292133 21212125
21422202

21172113

21142118
2209

21092105
AR

RO
WC

RE
ST

 LN

TREE TOP LN

ARAPAHO RD

LAWRENCE DR LA
NC

EC
RE

ST
 DR

GLEN HEIGHTS DR

HOLFORD RD

N S
HI

LO
H 

RD

WILD OAK LN

HE
AR

TH
CR

ES
T D

R

STONECASTLE DR

GRAND
VILLA LN

ARROWCREST CT

WALNUT GROVE LN

GLEN VISTA DR

JOHN SHARP CIR

JASMINE LN

KNIGHTHOOD LN

S F - 7S F - 7

P D  7 8 - 8 3P D  7 8 - 8 3

P D  8 3 - 1 4 3P D  8 3 - 1 4 3

P D  9 9 - 4 9P D  9 9 - 4 9

P DP D
0 2 - 2 80 2 - 2 8

P DP D
9 9 - 1 49 9 - 1 4

P D  9 7 - 6 0P D  9 7 - 6 0
P D  8 6 - 3 5P D  8 6 - 3 5

P DP D
2 0 - 3 52 0 - 3 5

P D  0 8 - 4 5P D  0 8 - 4 5

A GA G

A GA G

P DP D
1 4 - 0 91 4 - 0 9

SS
1 5 - 3 41 5 - 3 4

SS
2 0 - 4 32 0 - 4 3

P D  1 7 - 3 2P D  1 7 - 3 2

P DP D
1 3 - 2 81 3 - 2 8

A GA G

P D  2 0 - 3 7P D  2 0 - 3 7

P D  2 1 - 0 1P D  2 1 - 0 1

P D  1 6 - 1 3P D  1 6 - 1 3

M F - 1M F - 1

2108

4210

2101

4801

2106

2001

2375

2005

2101

2102

2014

2102

4218

2256

2013 4214

2260

2114

4206

2102

2009

2101

2105

2118
2110

2350

2266

2302

2301

2359

2367
2387

2383

2379
2371

2363

2255

2000

2055

2059

2063

2067

2065

2061

2057

ZONING MAP Z 22-61 INDICATES AREA
OF REQUEST

¯
0 200 400 Feet 1 inch = 307 feet

NE corner of Arapaho & Holford Rd



EXHIBIT B 

 
PLANNED DEVELOPMENT CONDITIONS 

 
 

ZONING FILE Z 22-61 
 

 Northeast Corner of Arapaho Road and Holford Road 
 

 
 
I. Statement of Purpose:  The purpose of this Planned 

Development (PD) is to allow and regulate land uses. 
 

II.  Statement of Effect:  This Planned Development (PD) 
shall not affect any regulation found in the Garland 
Development Code, Ordinance No. 6773, as amended prior 
to adoption of this ordinance, except as specifically 

provided herein. 
 
III. General Regulations:  All regulations of the Light 

Commercial (LC) District and Site Development 
Standards as set forth in Chapter 2 and 4 of the 
Garland Development Code, Ordinance 6773, are included 
by reference and shall apply, except as otherwise 
specified by this ordinance. 

 
 

IV. Specific Conditions: 
 

A. Permitted Uses: All uses in allowed in the Light 
Commercial (LC) District shall be permitted, except 
for the following uses which are prohibited: 

 

 Automobile Repair, Major 

 Automobile Sales, New and Used 

 Boat Sales, Leasing & Repair (outside storage) 

 Personal Watercraft Sales, Leasing & Repair (new 

and used) 

 Recreational Vehicle/Trailer Sales, Leasing & 

Repair 

 Meat and Game Processing 

 Laundry plant, commercial 

 Taxidermist 

 Alternative financial establishment 

   

B. Detail Plan: A Detail Plan is not required prior to 
the issuance of permits for construction, except in 
cases where a Planned Development amendment is 
triggered by deviations from the Garland 
Development Code (GDC).  In addition, Specific Use 
Provision (SUP) requests are subject to be 
accompanied with a site plan, among other 
requirements per the Garland Development Code, for 
consideration through the public hearing process. 



   
 

 

Z 22-61 
 
 

  

View from subject site on Holford Road looking 

North 

View of properties located across Holford Road. 

Looking West 

 
 

 

 

View of property from Holford Road looking East View from the property looking South on Holford 

Road  



2233 222122292225221722132209
22052201

2237

22102222
2226 221822302234

223822462242

2110
2122220222062210221422182222 2118

2226

21132109
21172125212122012205

213421302122

21292133 21212125
21422202

21172113

21142118
2209

21092105
AR

RO
WC

RE
ST

 LN

TREE TOP LN

ARAPAHO RD

LAWRENCE DR LA
NC

EC
RE

ST
 DR

GLEN HEIGHTS DR

HOLFORD RD

N S
HI

LO
H 

RD

WILD OAK LN

HE
AR

TH
CR

ES
T D

R

STONECASTLE DR

GRAND
VILLA LN

ARROWCREST CT

WALNUT GROVE LN

GLEN VISTA DR

JOHN SHARP CIR

JASMINE LN

KNIGHTHOOD LN

S F - 7S F - 7

P D  7 8 - 8 3P D  7 8 - 8 3

P D  8 3 - 1 4 3P D  8 3 - 1 4 3

P D  9 9 - 4 9P D  9 9 - 4 9

P DP D
0 2 - 2 80 2 - 2 8

P DP D
9 9 - 1 49 9 - 1 4

P D  9 7 - 6 0P D  9 7 - 6 0
P D  8 6 - 3 5P D  8 6 - 3 5

P DP D
2 0 - 3 52 0 - 3 5

P D  0 8 - 4 5P D  0 8 - 4 5

A GA G

A GA G

P DP D
1 4 - 0 91 4 - 0 9

SS
1 5 - 3 41 5 - 3 4

SS
2 0 - 4 32 0 - 4 3

P D  1 7 - 3 2P D  1 7 - 3 2

P DP D
1 3 - 2 81 3 - 2 8

A GA G

P D  2 0 - 3 7P D  2 0 - 3 7

P D  2 1 - 0 1P D  2 1 - 0 1

P D  1 6 - 1 3P D  1 6 - 1 3

M F - 1M F - 1

2108

4210

2101

4801

2106

2001

2375

2005

2101

2102

2014

2102

4218

2256

2013 4214

2260

2114

4206

2102

2009

2101

2105

2118
2110

2350

2266

2302

2301

2359

2367
2387

2383

2379
2371

2363

2255

2000

2055

2059

2063

2067

2065

2061

2057

ZONING MAP Z 22-61 INDICATES AREA
OF REQUEST

¯
0 200 400 Feet 1 inch = 307 feet

INDICATES 
NOTIFICATION AREA

NE corner of Arapaho & Holford Rd



To date we have not received any responses for this case. 



GARLAND
 

   
Plan Commission  3. d.        
Meeting Date: 12/12/2022  
Item Title: Z 22-63 Quiddity Engineering, LLC. - Zoning (District 1)

Summary:
Consideration of the application of Quiddity Engineering, LLC., requesting approval of 1) an
Amendment to Planned Development (PD) District 21-34 for Community Retail Uses and 2) a
Specific Use Provision for a Restaurant, Drive-Through Use.  This property is located at 5200
North Garland Avenue.  (District 1) (File Z 22-63 – Zoning)

Attachments
Z 22-63 Quiddity Engineering, LLC. Report and Attachments (Zoning) 
Z 22-63 Quiddity Engineering, LLC. Responses 



 

Planning Report 
File No: Z 22-63/District 1 
Agenda Item: 
Meeting: Plan Commission 
Date: December 12, 2022 
 
REQUEST 
Approval of an Amendment to Planned Development (PD) District 21-34 for Community 
Retail Uses 
 
Approval of a Specific Use Provision for a Restaurant, Drive-Through Use. 
 
Approval of a Detail Plan on a property zoned Planned Development (PD) District 21-34 for 
Community Retail Uses. 
 
 
LOCATION 
5200 North Garland Avenue 
 
 
APPLICANT 
Quiddity Engineering, LLC. 
 
 
OWNER 
Walmart Real Estate Business  
 
 
BACKGROUND 
The applicant proposes to carve out a 0.78-acre lot from the Walmart parking area and 
construct an 837 square-foot restaurant with a drive-through [Salad and Go]. 
 
 
SITE DATA 
The site would contain 0.78 acres with approximately 158.22 lineal feet of frontage along 
North Garland Avenue.  

 
USE OF PROPERTY UNDER CURRENT ZONING 

The subject property is zoned Planned Development (PD) District 21-34 for Community 
Retail Uses. The PD 21-34 Detail Plan was approved for a coffee shop with a drive-through 
[Starbucks] that was never constructed. 

 
CONSIDERATIONS 
  
Detail Plan: 
1. The applicant proposes to carve out a 0.78-acre pad site from the Walmart parking area 

to develop an 837 square-foot Salad and Go restaurant with a drive-through and no 
indoor dining (Exhibit C). The proposed Salad and Go site will be accessed from existing 
access points on the Walmart site as no new direct access points off North Garland 
Avenue are being proposed. 



Page 2 of 3 
 
2. The parking for the proposed Salad and Go site is in compliance with the Garland 

Development Code (GDC). In addition, the parking for the Walmart Supercenter site will 
remain in compliance. 

3. The landscape layout (Exhibit D) is in compliance with the Garland Development Code 
(GDC). 

4. The building elevations (Exhibit E) are in compliance with the Garland Development 
Code (GDC). 

5. The applicant is not requesting any signage deviations with this request. 

Specific Use Provision:    

6. The applicant is requesting approval of a Specific Use Provision for twenty-five (25) 
years. The SUP Time Period Guide recommends a range of twenty (20) to twenty-five 
(25) years. 

 
 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
The Future Land Use Map of the Envision Garland Plan recommends Community Centers for 
the subject site.  Community centers are areas with compact development, primarily non-
residential, serving a collection of neighborhoods.  This type of development consists of a 
mix of uses, including retail, services, office use, multi-family residential, and 
entertainment.  Community centers may be developed at the intersections of major arterial 
streets and along major arterials, highways, and turnpike corridors.  This type of area is 
served by numerous roads and transit routes, providing a variety of connections between 
neighborhoods and Community Centers for pedestrians, bicycles, motorized vehicles, and 
transit.  The development standards employed to create Community Centers should enhance 
gateways and corridors as well as to provide attractive, modern developments that create 
desirable destinations within the city.   
 
The proposed Salad and Go development is consistent with the recommended uses for 
Community Centers.   
 
 
COMPATIBILITY OF REQUEST WITH SURROUNDING ZONING AND LAND USES 
The properties across North Garland Avenue are zoned Community Retail (CR) District, 
Planned Development (PD) District 04-42, Planned Development (PD) District 03-66, 
Planned Development (PD) District 03-65 and Planned Development (PD) District 03-24 for 
Community Retail Uses; these properties are developed with bank institutions, a variety of 
retail services, restaurants and a fitness club. The properties to the northeast and southeast 
are zoned Planned Development (PD) District 13-02 for Community Retail Uses; these 
properties are developed with a shopping center. The property to the west is zoned Planned 
Development (PD) District 01-16 and it is developed with a shopping center. 
 
The proposed Salad and Go is generally compatible with the surrounding area which is 
characterized by retail, banking and food service activity. 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Approval of an Amendment to Planned Development (PD) District 21-34 for Community 
Retail Uses 
 
Approval of a Specific Use Provision for a Restaurant, Drive-Through Use. 



Page 3 of 3 
 
 
Approval of a Detail Plan on a property zoned Planned Development (PD) District 21-34 for 
Community Retail Uses. 
 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
i. Location Map 
ii. PD and SUP Conditions 
iii. Exhibits 
iv. Photos 
 
 
CITY COUNCIL DATE: January 10, 2022 
 
 
PREPARED BY:     REVIEWED BY: 
Nabiha Ahmed Will Guerin, AICP 
Lead Development Planner Director of Planning 
Planning & Development  
972-205-2453  
nahmed@garlandtx.gov  

mailto:nahmed@garlandtx.gov


N GARLAND AV
E

N GEORGE BUSH

SERVICE RD W

N GEORGE
BUSHON W

N GEORGE

BUSH HWY E

N GEORGE BUSH

SERVICE RD W

N GEORGE

BUSH HWY W

NAAMAN FOREST BLVD

NAAMAN FOREST BLVD

C RC R

P D  0 4 - 4 2P D  0 4 - 4 2

P D  0 3 - 2 4P D  0 3 - 2 4

P D  0 7 - 3 6P D  0 7 - 3 6

P D  0 7 - 3 9P D  0 7 - 3 9

S  1 4 - 2 9S  1 4 - 2 9

P D  1 3 - 0 2P D  1 3 - 0 2

P D  0 1 - 1 6P D  0 1 - 1 6

P D  0 6 - 0 6P D  0 6 - 0 6
P D  0 3 - 1 4P D  0 3 - 1 4

S  2 1 - 1 6S  2 1 - 1 6

P DP D
1 2 - 5 61 2 - 5 6

P DP D
0 2 - 2 00 2 - 2 0

C RC RA GA G

A GA G

S  1 6 - 3 1S  1 6 - 3 1

P D  0 3 - 6 5P D  0 3 - 6 5

P DP D
0 3 - 6 60 3 - 6 6

P D  2 0 - 1 6P D  2 0 - 1 6

P D  2 2 - 0 1P D  2 2 - 0 1

P DP D
2 1 - 1 12 1 - 1 1

P D / S  2 1 - 3 4P D / S  2 1 - 3 4

P D  1 9 - 0 7P D  1 9 - 0 7

P D  1 9 - 0 7P D  1 9 - 0 7

P D  1 6 - 3 9P D  1 6 - 3 9

M F - 1M F - 1

5225

5301

5129

5302

5130

5031

5345

5205

5235

5150

5322

5300

5200

ZONING MAP Z 22-63 INDICATES AREA
OF REQUEST

¯
0 175 350 Feet 1 inch = 264 feet

5200 North Garland Avenue



EXHIBIT B 

 
PLANNED DEVELOPMENT CONDITIONS 

 
 

ZONING FILE Z 22-63 
 

5200 North Garland Avenue 
 

 
 
I. Statement of Purpose:  The purpose of this Planned 

Development (PD) is to allow and regulate the 
development of Restaurant, Drive-Through land use. 

 
II.  Statement of Effect:  This Planned Development (PD) 

shall not affect any regulation found in the Garland 
Development Code, Ordinance No. 6773, as amended prior 

to adoption of this ordinance, except as specifically 
provided herein. 

 
III. General Regulations:  All regulations of the Community 

Retail (CR) District and Site Development Standards as 
set forth in Chapter 2 and 4 of the Garland 
Development Code, Ordinance 6773, are included by 
reference and shall apply, except as otherwise 
specified by this ordinance. 

 
IV. Development Plans: 
 

A. Detail Plan:  Development is to be in conformance 
with the approved Detail Plan labeled Exhibit C.  In 
the event of conflict between the conditions and 

Detail Plan, the conditions listed below are to 
apply. 

 
V. Detail Plan: 
 

A. Site Layout: The site shall be in conformance to the 
site layout reflected on Exhibit C.  

 

B. Screening and Landscaping: Screening and landscaping 
shall be in conformance to the layout reflected on 
Exhibit D. 

 

C. Building Elevations: Building elevations shall be in 
conformance to the elevations as approved on Exhibit 

E. 

 



PD/SUP Requirements 
Zoning File 22-63 
Page 2 

EXHIBIT B 

 

 
SPECIFIC USE PROVISION CONDITIONS 

 
 

ZONING FILE Z 22-63 
 

5200 North Garland Avenue 
 

 
 
I. Statement of Purpose:  The purpose of this Specific 

Use Provision is to allow a Restaurant, Drive-Through. 
 

II. Statement of Effect:  This Specific Use Provision 

shall not affect any regulation found in the Garland 
Development Code, Ordinance No. 6773, as amended prior 
to adoption of this ordinance, except as specifically 
provided herein. 

 
III. General Regulations:  All regulations of the Community 

Retail (CR) District as set forth in Chapter 2 of the 
Garland Development Code Ordinance 6773, are included 
by reference and shall apply, except as otherwise 
specified by this ordinance. 

 
VI. Specific Regulations:   
 

Time Period:  The Specific Use Provision shall be a 
valid for time period of twenty-five (25) years. 

 
 

 
 



   
 

 

Z 22-63 
 
 

   

View of subject site from N. Garland Ave. View of properties located across N. Garland Ave. 
from subject site 

 
 
 

 

View of properties located to the northeast from 
subject site 

View of properties located to the southwest from 
subject site 



N GARLAND AV
E

N GEORGE BUSH

SERVICE RD W

N GEORGE
BUSHON W

N GEORGE

BUSH HWY E

N GEORGE BUSH

SERVICE RD W

N GEORGE

BUSH HWY W

NAAMAN FOREST BLVD

NAAMAN FOREST BLVD

C RC R

P D  0 4 - 4 2P D  0 4 - 4 2

P D  0 3 - 2 4P D  0 3 - 2 4

P D  0 7 - 3 6P D  0 7 - 3 6

P D  0 7 - 3 9P D  0 7 - 3 9

S  1 4 - 2 9S  1 4 - 2 9

P D  1 3 - 0 2P D  1 3 - 0 2

P D  0 1 - 1 6P D  0 1 - 1 6

P D  0 6 - 0 6P D  0 6 - 0 6
P D  0 3 - 1 4P D  0 3 - 1 4

S  2 1 - 1 6S  2 1 - 1 6

P DP D
1 2 - 5 61 2 - 5 6

P DP D
0 2 - 2 00 2 - 2 0

C RC RA GA G

A GA G

S  1 6 - 3 1S  1 6 - 3 1

P D  0 3 - 6 5P D  0 3 - 6 5

P DP D
0 3 - 6 60 3 - 6 6

P D  2 0 - 1 6P D  2 0 - 1 6

P D  2 2 - 0 1P D  2 2 - 0 1

P DP D
2 1 - 1 12 1 - 1 1

P D / S  2 1 - 3 4P D / S  2 1 - 3 4

P D  1 9 - 0 7P D  1 9 - 0 7

P D  1 9 - 0 7P D  1 9 - 0 7

P D  1 6 - 3 9P D  1 6 - 3 9

M F - 1M F - 1

5225

5301

5129

5302

5130

5031

5345

5205

5235

5150

5322

5300

5200

ZONING MAP Z 22-63 INDICATES AREA
OF REQUEST

¯
0 175 350 Feet 1 inch = 264 feet

INDICATES 
NOTIFICATION AREA

5200 North Garland Avenue



To date we have not received any responses for this case. 



GARLAND
 

   
Plan Commission  3. e.        
Meeting Date: 12/12/2022  
Item Title: Z 22-63 Quiddity Engineering, LLC. - Detail Plan (District 1)

Summary:
Consideration of the application of Quiddity Engineering, LLC., requesting approval of a
Detail Plan for a Restaurant, Drive-Through on a property zoned Planned Development (PD)
District 21-34 for Community Retail Uses. This property is located at 5200 North Garland
Avenue.  (District 1) (File Z 22-63 – Detail Plan)

Attachments
Z 22-63 Quiddity Engineering, LLC. Report and Attachments (Detail Plan) 
Z 22-63 Quiddity Engineering, LLC. Responses 



Planning Report
File No: Z 22-63/District 1
Agenda Item:
Meeting: Plan Commission
Date: December 12, 2022

REQUEST
Approval of an Amendment to Planned Development (PD) District 21-34 for Community 
Retail Uses

Approval of a Specific Use Provision for a Restaurant, Drive-Through Use.

Approval of a Detail Plan on a property zoned Planned Development (PD) District 21-34 for 
Community Retail Uses.

LOCATION
5200 North Garland Avenue

APPLICANT
Quiddity Engineering, LLC.

OWNER
Walmart Real Estate Business 

BACKGROUND
The applicant proposes to carve out a 0.78-acre lot from the Walmart parking area and 
construct an 837 square-foot restaurant with a drive-through [Salad and Go].

SITE DATA
The site would contain 0.78 acres with approximately 158.22 lineal feet of frontage along
North Garland Avenue. 

USE OF PROPERTY UNDER CURRENT ZONING
The subject property is zoned Planned Development (PD) District 21-34 for Community 
Retail Uses. The PD 21-34 Detail Plan was approved for a coffee shop with a drive-through 
[Starbucks] that was never constructed.

CONSIDERATIONS

Detail Plan:
1. The applicant proposes to carve out a 0.78-acre pad site from the Walmart parking area 

to develop an 837 square-foot Salad and Go restaurant with a drive-through and no 
indoor dining (Exhibit C). The proposed Salad and Go site will be accessed from existing 
access points on the Walmart site as no new direct access points off North Garland 
Avenue are being proposed.



Page 2 of 3
 
2. The parking for the proposed Salad and Go site is in compliance with the Garland 

Development Code (GDC). In addition, the parking for the Walmart Supercenter site will 
remain in compliance. 

3. The landscape layout (Exhibit D) is in compliance with the Garland Development Code 
(GDC). 

4. The building elevations (Exhibit E) are in compliance with the Garland Development 
Code (GDC). 

5. The applicant is not requesting any signage deviations with this request. 

Specific Use Provision:    
6. The applicant is requesting approval of a Specific Use Provision for twenty-five (25) 

years. The SUP Time Period Guide recommends a range of twenty (20) to twenty-five 
(25) years. 

 
 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
The Future Land Use Map of the Envision Garland Plan recommends Community Centers for 
the subject site.  Community centers are areas with compact development, primarily non-
residential, serving a collection of neighborhoods.  This type of development consists of a 
mix of uses, including retail, services, office use, multi-family residential, and 
entertainment.  Community centers may be developed at the intersections of major arterial 
streets and along major arterials, highways, and turnpike corridors.  This type of area is 
served by numerous roads and transit routes, providing a variety of connections between 
neighborhoods and Community Centers for pedestrians, bicycles, motorized vehicles, and 
transit.  The development standards employed to create Community Centers should enhance 
gateways and corridors as well as to provide attractive, modern developments that create 
desirable destinations within the city.   
 
The proposed Salad and Go development is consistent with the recommended uses for 
Community Centers.   
 
 
COMPATIBILITY OF REQUEST WITH SURROUNDING ZONING AND LAND USES 
The properties across North Garland Avenue are zoned Community Retail (CR) District, 
Planned Development (PD) District 04-42, Planned Development (PD) District 03-66, 
Planned Development (PD) District 03-65 and Planned Development (PD) District 03-24 for 
Community Retail Uses; these properties are developed with bank institutions, a variety of 
retail services, restaurants and a fitness club. The properties to the northeast and southeast 
are zoned Planned Development (PD) District 13-02 for Community Retail Uses; these 
properties are developed with a shopping center. The property to the west is zoned Planned 
Development (PD) District 01-16 and it is developed with a shopping center. 
 
The proposed Salad and Go is generally compatible with the surrounding area which is 
characterized by retail, banking and food service activity. 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Approval of an Amendment to Planned Development (PD) District 21-34 for Community 
Retail Uses 
 
Approval of a Specific Use Provision for a Restaurant, Drive-Through Use. 



Page 3 of 3
 

Approval of a Detail Plan on a property zoned Planned Development (PD) District 21-34 for 
Community Retail Uses. 
 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
i. Location Map 
ii. PD and SUP Conditions 
iii. Exhibits 
iv. Photos 
 
 
CITY COUNCIL DATE: January 10, 2022 
 
 
PREPARED BY:     REVIEWED BY: 
Nabiha Ahmed Will Guerin, AICP 
Lead Development Planner Director of Planning 
Planning & Development  
972-205-2453  
nahmed@garlandtx.gov  













VAN

1'
2'

P
R

O
T

O
T

Y
P

E
 V

E
R

S
IO

N
 2

.0
0

11
/1

7/
20

22
 4

:3
7:

04
 P

M

N
. 

G
A

R
L

A
N

D
 A

V
E

 &
 N

A
A

M
A

N
 F

O
R

E
S

T
G

A
R

L
A

N
D

, T
X

 7
5

0
40

1



Z 22-63

View of subject site from N. Garland Ave. View of properties located across N. Garland Ave.
from subject site

View of properties located to the northeast from 
subject site

View of properties located to the southwest from 
subject site



N GARLAND AV
E

N GEORGE BUSH

SERVICE RD W

N GEORGE
BUSHON W

N GEORGE

BUSH HWY E

N GEORGE BUSH

SERVICE RD W

N GEORGE

BUSH HWY W

NAAMAN FOREST BLVD

NAAMAN FOREST BLVD

C RC R

P D  0 4 - 4 2P D  0 4 - 4 2

P D  0 3 - 2 4P D  0 3 - 2 4

P D  0 7 - 3 6P D  0 7 - 3 6

P D  0 7 - 3 9P D  0 7 - 3 9

S  1 4 - 2 9S  1 4 - 2 9

P D  1 3 - 0 2P D  1 3 - 0 2

P D  0 1 - 1 6P D  0 1 - 1 6

P D  0 6 - 0 6P D  0 6 - 0 6
P D  0 3 - 1 4P D  0 3 - 1 4

S  2 1 - 1 6S  2 1 - 1 6

P DP D
1 2 - 5 61 2 - 5 6

P DP D
0 2 - 2 00 2 - 2 0

C RC RA GA G

A GA G

S  1 6 - 3 1S  1 6 - 3 1

P D  0 3 - 6 5P D  0 3 - 6 5

P DP D
0 3 - 6 60 3 - 6 6

P D  2 0 - 1 6P D  2 0 - 1 6

P D  2 2 - 0 1P D  2 2 - 0 1

P DP D
2 1 - 1 12 1 - 1 1

P D / S  2 1 - 3 4P D / S  2 1 - 3 4

P D  1 9 - 0 7P D  1 9 - 0 7

P D  1 9 - 0 7P D  1 9 - 0 7

P D  1 6 - 3 9P D  1 6 - 3 9

M F - 1M F - 1

5225

5301

5129

5302

5130

5031

5345

5205

5235

5150

5322

5300

5200

ZONING MAP Z 22-63 INDICATES AREA
OF REQUEST

¯
0 175 350 Feet 1 inch = 264 feet

INDICATES 
NOTIFICATION AREA

5200 North Garland Avenue



To date we have not received any responses for this case. 



GARLAND
 

   
Plan Commission  3. f.        
Meeting Date: 12/12/2022  
Item Title: Z 22-64 Matt Moore - Specific Use Provision (District 7)

Summary:
Consideration of the application of Matt Moore, requesting approval of a Specific Use
Provision for a Restaurant, Drive-Through Use. This property is located at 4680 North Shiloh
Road.  (District 7) (File Z 22-64 – Specific Use Provision)    

Attachments
Z 22-64 Matt Moore Report and Attachments (Specific Use Provision) 
Z 22-64 Matt Moore Responses 



 

Planning Report 
File No: Z 22-64/District 7 
Agenda Item: 
Meeting: Plan Commission 
Date: December 12, 2022 
 
REQUEST 
Approval of a Specific Use Provision for a Restaurant, Drive-Through Use 
 
Approval of a Detail Plan for a Restaurant, Drive-Through Use on a property zoned Planned 
Development (PD) District 20-35 for Neighborhood Office Uses  
 
LOCATION 
4680 North Shiloh Road 
 
 
APPLICANT 
Matt Moore 
 
 
OWNER 
Shiloh Arapaho Partners LTD 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
The applicant proposes to carve out 1.15-acres from a larger lot and construct a 1,286 
square-foot Dutch Bros coffee shop with a drive-through and patio.   
 
 
SITE DATA 
The site contains 1.15 acres with approximately 150.09 lineal feet of frontage along North 
Shiloh Road and 49.91 lineal feet of frontage along Arapaho Road. The site can be accessed 
from Arapaho Road and North Shiloh Road.  

 
USE OF PROPERTY UNDER CURRENT ZONING 

The subject property is zoned Planned Development (PD) District 20-35 for Neighborhood 
Office Uses. The PD 20-35 Detail Plan was approved for a convenience store with fuel pumps 
and it has been constructed. All future development requires approval of a Detail Plan 
through the public hearing process. In addition, a Restaurant, Drive-Through Use is 
permitted only by SUP.   

 
CONSIDERATIONS 
  
Detail Plan: 
1. The applicant proposes to carve out a 1.15-acre pad site from a larger lot and construct 

a 1,286 square-foot Dutch Bros coffee shop with a drive-through and patio (Exhibit C). 
The proposed Dutch Bros site will be accessed from existing access points on North 
Shiloh Road, as well as a mutual access drive off Arapaho Road. 

2. The parking for the proposed Dutch Bros site complies with the Garland Development 
Code (GDC). 



Page 2 of 3 
 
3. The landscape layout (Exhibit D) for the proposed Dutch Bros site is in compliance with 

the Garland Development Code (GDC). 

4. The building elevations (Exhibit E) for the proposed Dutch Bros are in compliance with 
the Garland Development Code (GDC). 

5. The applicant is not requesting any signage deviations with this request. 

Specific Use Provision:    

6. The applicant is requesting approval of a twenty-five (25) year Specific Use Provision. 
The SUP Time Period Guide recommends a range of twenty (20) to twenty-five (25) 
years. 

 
 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
The Future Land Use Map of the Envision Garland Plan recommends Compact Neighborhoods 
for the subject site. Compact neighborhoods provide areas for moderate increases in 
residential density, including single-family attached and single-family detached housing. It 
expands housing options through infill and redevelopment, while continuing walkable 
development patterns. These areas provide transitions between traditional residential 
neighborhoods and higher density residential neighborhoods and non-residential 
developments. These areas accommodate uses such as convenience retail (goods and 
services), office space, and public services. The architectural character and scale of these 
areas are compatible with adjacent residential development.  
 
 
COMPATIBILITY OF REQUEST WITH SURROUNDING ZONING AND LAND USES 
The properties to the west, across North Shiloh Road, are zoned Planned Development (PD) 
District 17-32, Planned Development (PD) District 13-28, Planned Development (PD) District 
19-06 and Planned Development (PD) District 17-40 for Community Retail Uses; these 
properties are developed with a charter high school, a Starbucks, and a car wash. The 
properties to the north, across Arapaho Road, are zoned Planned Development (PD) District 
14-09 and Planned Development (PD) 02-28 for Community Retail Uses; these properties 
are developed with a bank institution and a self-storage. The property to the east is zoned 
Planned Development (PD) District 08-45 for Community Office Uses; it is currently 
unimproved. The property directly to the north is also zoned Planned Development (PD) 
District 20-35 for Neighborhood Office Use; this site is developed with a convenience store 
with fuel pumps. The property directly to the south is also zoned Planned Development (PD) 
District 20-35 and is vacant. 
 
The proposed use is generally compatible with the surrounding area. 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Approval of a Specific Use Provision for a Restaurant, Drive-Through Use 
 

Approval of a Detail Plan for a Restaurant, Drive-Through Use on a property zoned Planned 
Development (PD) District 20-35 for Neighborhood Office Uses  
 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
i. Location Map 
ii. PD and SUP Conditions 
iii. Exhibits 
iv. Photos 



Page 3 of 3 
 
 
 
CITY COUNCIL DATE: January 10, 2023 
 
 
PREPARED BY:     REVIEWED BY: 
Matthew Wolverton Will Guerin, AICP 
Development Planner Director of Planning 
Planning & Development  
972-205-2454  
mwolverton@garlandtx.gov   

mailto:mwolverton@garlandtx.gov


2333 23212325

2322 2314
2318 2310

23172321

2306
2326

P D  8 3 - 1 4 3P D  8 3 - 1 4 3

2246

2325
2329

N S
HI

LO
H 

RD

TREE TOP LN

RO
YA

LT
Y

DR

CHARIOT
LN

GRAND
VILLA LN

HOLFORD RD
LA

NC
EC

RE
ST

 DR

ARAPAHO RD

AR
RO

WC
RE

ST
 LN

STONECASTLE
DR

WILD OAK LNGLEN VISTA DR
BOTELLO

RD

ARROWCREST CT

LA
RG

O 
TR

L

WALNUT GROVE LN

GLEN HEIGHTS DR

JASMINE
LN

S F - 7S F - 7

S F - 7S F - 7

P D  8 3 - 1 4 3P D  8 3 - 1 4 3

P D  9 9 - 4 9P D  9 9 - 4 9

P DP D
0 2 - 2 80 2 - 2 8

P D  9 9 - 1 4P D  9 9 - 1 4

P D  9 7 - 6 0P D  9 7 - 6 0
P D  8 6 - 3 5P D  8 6 - 3 5

S F AS F A

P D  2 0 - 3 5P D  2 0 - 3 5 P D  0 8 - 4 5P D  0 8 - 4 5

S F - 7S F - 7

S F - 7S F - 7

A GA G

P DP D
1 4 - 0 91 4 - 0 9

S  1 5 - 3 4S  1 5 - 3 4

S  2 0 - 4 3S  2 0 - 4 3

P D  1 7 - 3 2P D  1 7 - 3 2

P DP D
1 3 - 2 81 3 - 2 8

A GA G
P DP D

1 7 - 4 01 7 - 4 0

P D  1 9 - 0 6P D  1 9 - 0 6

P D  2 1 - 0 1P D  2 1 - 0 1

M F - 1M F - 1

P DP D
1 7 - 3 21 7 - 3 2

4413

2306

4801

2305

4305

2375

2302

2601

2256

4309

4217

2260

4805

2309

2645

4301

2301

2313

2350

2266

2475

2645

2402

2302

4680

2620 2602

2301

2401

4706

2359

2367

2387

2383

2379

2371

2363

4685

2476

ZONING MAP Z 22-64
¯

0 175 350 Feet 1 inch = 264 feet

4680 North Shiloh Road

INDICATES AREA
OF REQUEST



EXHIBIT B 

 
PLANNED DEVELOPMENT CONDITIONS 

 
 

ZONING FILE Z 22-64 
 

4680 North Shiloh Road 
 

 
 
I. Statement of Purpose:  The purpose of this Planned 

Development (PD) is to allow and regulate the 
development of a Restaurant, Drive-Through land use. 

 
II.  Statement of Effect:  This Planned Development (PD) 

shall not affect any regulation found in the Garland 
Development Code, Ordinance No. 6773, as amended prior 

to adoption of this ordinance, except as specifically 
provided herein. 

 
III. General Regulations:  All regulations of the Planned 

Development (PD) District 20-35 and Neighborhood 
Office (NO) District and Site Development Standards as 
set forth in Chapter 2 and 4 of the Garland 
Development Code, Ordinance 6773, are included by 
reference and shall apply, except as otherwise 
specified by this ordinance. 

 
IV. Development Plans: 
 

A. Detail Plan:  Development is to be in conformance 
with the approved Detail Plan labeled Exhibit C to 

Exhibit E.  In the event of conflict between the 
conditions and Detail Plan, the conditions listed 
below are to apply. 

 
V. Detail Plan: 
 

A. Site Layout: The site shall be in conformance to the 
site layout reflected on Exhibit C.  

 

B. Screening and Landscaping: Screening and landscaping 
shall be in conformance to the layout reflected on 
Exhibit D. 

 

C. Building Elevations: Building elevations shall be in 
conformance to the elevations as approved on Exhibit 
E. 

 



PD/SUP Requirements 
Zoning File 22-64 
Page 2 

EXHIBIT B 

 

 
SPECIFIC USE PROVISION CONDITIONS 

 
 

ZONING FILE Z 22-64 
 

4680 North Shiloh Road 
 

 
 
II. Statement of Purpose:  The purpose of this Specific 

Use Provision is to allow a Restaurant, Drive-Through. 
 

II.  Statement of Effect:  This Specific Use Provision 

shall not affect any regulation found in the Garland 
Development Code, Ordinance No. 6773, as amended prior 
to adoption of this ordinance, except as specifically 
provided herein. 

 
III. General Regulations:  All regulations of the Planned 

Development (PD) District 20-35 and Neighborhood 
Office (NO) District and Site Development Standards as 
set forth in Chapter 2 and 4 of the Garland 
Development Code, Ordinance 6773, are included by 
reference and shall apply, except as otherwise 
specified by this ordinance. 

 
IV. Specific Regulations:   
 

A. Time Period:  The Specific Use Provision shall have a 
twenty-five year time period. 
 

 
 

 



   
 

 

Z 22-64 
 
 

  

View of subject site looking south from the gas 

station currently sharing the same zoning 

View of subject site from North Shiloh Road looking 

East 

 
 

 

 

View of properties located across North Shiloh 

Road to the west from the subject site 

View of properties located to the north from subject 

site 



2333 23212325

2322 2314
2318 2310

23172321

2306
2326

P D  8 3 - 1 4 3P D  8 3 - 1 4 3

2246

2325
2329

N S
HI

LO
H 

RD

TREE TOP LN

RO
YA

LT
Y

DR

CHARIOT
LN

GRAND
VILLA LN

HOLFORD RD
LA

NC
EC

RE
ST

 DR

ARAPAHO RD

AR
RO

WC
RE

ST
 LN

STONECASTLE
DR

WILD OAK LNGLEN VISTA DR
BOTELLO

RD

ARROWCREST CT

LA
RG

O 
TR

L

WALNUT GROVE LN

GLEN HEIGHTS DR

JASMINE
LN

S F - 7S F - 7

S F - 7S F - 7

P D  8 3 - 1 4 3P D  8 3 - 1 4 3

P D  9 9 - 4 9P D  9 9 - 4 9

P DP D
0 2 - 2 80 2 - 2 8

P D  9 9 - 1 4P D  9 9 - 1 4

P D  9 7 - 6 0P D  9 7 - 6 0
P D  8 6 - 3 5P D  8 6 - 3 5

S F AS F A

P D  2 0 - 3 5P D  2 0 - 3 5 P D  0 8 - 4 5P D  0 8 - 4 5

S F - 7S F - 7

S F - 7S F - 7

A GA G

P DP D
1 4 - 0 91 4 - 0 9

S  1 5 - 3 4S  1 5 - 3 4

S  2 0 - 4 3S  2 0 - 4 3

P D  1 7 - 3 2P D  1 7 - 3 2

P DP D
1 3 - 2 81 3 - 2 8

A GA G
P DP D

1 7 - 4 01 7 - 4 0

P D  1 9 - 0 6P D  1 9 - 0 6

P D  2 1 - 0 1P D  2 1 - 0 1

M F - 1M F - 1

P DP D
1 7 - 3 21 7 - 3 2

4413

2306

4801

2305

4305

2375

2302

2601

2256

4309

4217

2260

4805

2309

2645

4301

2301

2313

2350

2266

2475

2645

2402

2302

4680

2620 2602

2301

2401

4706

2359

2367

2387

2383

2379

2371

2363

4685

2476

ZONING MAP Z 22-64
¯

0 175 350 Feet 1 inch = 264 feet

4680 North Shiloh Road

INDICATES AREA
OF REQUEST

INDICATES 
NOTIFICATION AREA



To date we have not received any responses for this case. 



GARLAND
 

   
Plan Commission  3. g.        
Meeting Date: 12/12/2022  
Item Title: Z 22-64 Matt Moore - Detail Plan (District 7)

Summary:
Consideration of the application of Matt Moore, requesting approval of a Detail Plan on a
property zoned Planned Development (PD) District 20-35 for Neighborhood Office Uses. This
property is located at 4680 North Shiloh Road.  (District 7) (File Z 22-64 – Detail Plan)

Attachments
Z 22-64 Matt Moore Report and Attachments (Detail Plan) 
Z 22-64 Matt Moore Responses 



 

Planning Report 
File No: Z 22-64/District 7 
Agenda Item: 
Meeting: Plan Commission 
Date: December 12, 2022 
 
REQUEST 
Approval of a Specific Use Provision for a Restaurant, Drive-Through Use 
 
Approval of a Detail Plan for a Restaurant, Drive-Through Use on a property zoned Planned 
Development (PD) District 20-35 for Neighborhood Office Uses  
 
LOCATION 
4680 North Shiloh Road 
 
 
APPLICANT 
Matt Moore 
 
 
OWNER 
Shiloh Arapaho Partners LTD 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
The applicant proposes to carve out 1.15-acres from a larger lot and construct a 1,286 
square-foot Dutch Bros coffee shop with a drive-through and patio.   
 
 
SITE DATA 
The site contains 1.15 acres with approximately 150.09 lineal feet of frontage along North 
Shiloh Road and 49.91 lineal feet of frontage along Arapaho Road. The site can be accessed 
from Arapaho Road and North Shiloh Road.  

 
USE OF PROPERTY UNDER CURRENT ZONING 

The subject property is zoned Planned Development (PD) District 20-35 for Neighborhood 
Office Uses. The PD 20-35 Detail Plan was approved for a convenience store with fuel pumps 
and it has been constructed. All future development requires approval of a Detail Plan 
through the public hearing process. In addition, a Restaurant, Drive-Through Use is 
permitted only by SUP.   

 
CONSIDERATIONS 
  
Detail Plan: 
1. The applicant proposes to carve out a 1.15-acre pad site from a larger lot and construct 

a 1,286 square-foot Dutch Bros coffee shop with a drive-through and patio (Exhibit C). 
The proposed Dutch Bros site will be accessed from existing access points on North 
Shiloh Road, as well as a mutual access drive off Arapaho Road. 

2. The parking for the proposed Dutch Bros site complies with the Garland Development 
Code (GDC). 



Page 2 of 3 
 
3. The landscape layout (Exhibit D) for the proposed Dutch Bros site is in compliance with 

the Garland Development Code (GDC). 

4. The building elevations (Exhibit E) for the proposed Dutch Bros are in compliance with 
the Garland Development Code (GDC). 

5. The applicant is not requesting any signage deviations with this request. 

Specific Use Provision:    

6. The applicant is requesting approval of a twenty-five (25) year Specific Use Provision. 
The SUP Time Period Guide recommends a range of twenty (20) to twenty-five (25) 
years. 

 
 

COMPREHENSIVE PLAN 
The Future Land Use Map of the Envision Garland Plan recommends Compact Neighborhoods 
for the subject site. Compact neighborhoods provide areas for moderate increases in 
residential density, including single-family attached and single-family detached housing. It 
expands housing options through infill and redevelopment, while continuing walkable 
development patterns. These areas provide transitions between traditional residential 
neighborhoods and higher density residential neighborhoods and non-residential 
developments. These areas accommodate uses such as convenience retail (goods and 
services), office space, and public services. The architectural character and scale of these 
areas are compatible with adjacent residential development.  
 
 
COMPATIBILITY OF REQUEST WITH SURROUNDING ZONING AND LAND USES 
The properties to the west, across North Shiloh Road, are zoned Planned Development (PD) 
District 17-32, Planned Development (PD) District 13-28, Planned Development (PD) District 
19-06 and Planned Development (PD) District 17-40 for Community Retail Uses; these 
properties are developed with a charter high school, a Starbucks, and a car wash. The 
properties to the north, across Arapaho Road, are zoned Planned Development (PD) District 
14-09 and Planned Development (PD) 02-28 for Community Retail Uses; these properties 
are developed with a bank institution and a self-storage. The property to the east is zoned 
Planned Development (PD) District 08-45 for Community Office Uses; it is currently 
unimproved. The property directly to the north is also zoned Planned Development (PD) 
District 20-35 for Neighborhood Office Use; this site is developed with a convenience store 
with fuel pumps. The property directly to the south is also zoned Planned Development (PD) 
District 20-35 and is vacant. 
 
The proposed use is generally compatible with the surrounding area. 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Approval of a Specific Use Provision for a Restaurant, Drive-Through Use 
 

Approval of a Detail Plan for a Restaurant, Drive-Through Use on a property zoned Planned 
Development (PD) District 20-35 for Neighborhood Office Uses  
 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
i. Location Map 
ii. PD and SUP Conditions 
iii. Exhibits 
iv. Photos 



Page 3 of 3 
 
 
 
CITY COUNCIL DATE: January 10, 2023 
 
 
PREPARED BY:     REVIEWED BY: 
Matthew Wolverton Will Guerin, AICP 
Development Planner Director of Planning 
Planning & Development  
972-205-2454  
mwolverton@garlandtx.gov   

mailto:mwolverton@garlandtx.gov


2333 23212325

2322 2314
2318 2310

23172321

2306
2326

P D  8 3 - 1 4 3P D  8 3 - 1 4 3

2246

2325
2329

N S
HI

LO
H 

RD

TREE TOP LN

RO
YA

LT
Y

DR

CHARIOT
LN

GRAND
VILLA LN

HOLFORD RD
LA

NC
EC

RE
ST

 DR

ARAPAHO RD

AR
RO

WC
RE

ST
 LN

STONECASTLE
DR

WILD OAK LNGLEN VISTA DR
BOTELLO

RD

ARROWCREST CT

LA
RG

O 
TR

L

WALNUT GROVE LN

GLEN HEIGHTS DR

JASMINE
LN

S F - 7S F - 7

S F - 7S F - 7

P D  8 3 - 1 4 3P D  8 3 - 1 4 3

P D  9 9 - 4 9P D  9 9 - 4 9

P DP D
0 2 - 2 80 2 - 2 8

P D  9 9 - 1 4P D  9 9 - 1 4

P D  9 7 - 6 0P D  9 7 - 6 0
P D  8 6 - 3 5P D  8 6 - 3 5

S F AS F A

P D  2 0 - 3 5P D  2 0 - 3 5 P D  0 8 - 4 5P D  0 8 - 4 5

S F - 7S F - 7

S F - 7S F - 7

A GA G

P DP D
1 4 - 0 91 4 - 0 9

S  1 5 - 3 4S  1 5 - 3 4

S  2 0 - 4 3S  2 0 - 4 3

P D  1 7 - 3 2P D  1 7 - 3 2

P DP D
1 3 - 2 81 3 - 2 8

A GA G
P DP D

1 7 - 4 01 7 - 4 0

P D  1 9 - 0 6P D  1 9 - 0 6

P D  2 1 - 0 1P D  2 1 - 0 1

M F - 1M F - 1

P DP D
1 7 - 3 21 7 - 3 2

4413

2306

4801

2305

4305

2375

2302

2601

2256

4309

4217

2260

4805

2309

2645

4301

2301

2313

2350

2266

2475

2645

2402

2302

4680

2620 2602

2301

2401

4706

2359

2367

2387

2383

2379

2371

2363

4685

2476

ZONING MAP Z 22-64
¯

0 175 350 Feet 1 inch = 264 feet

4680 North Shiloh Road

INDICATES AREA
OF REQUEST



mwolverton
Text Box
Exhibit C



 

5  

mwolverton
Text Box
Exhibit D



mwolverton
Text Box
Exhibit D



mwolverton
Text Box
Exhibit E



   
 

 

Z 22-64 
 
 

  

View of subject site looking south from the gas 

station currently sharing the same zoning 

View of subject site from North Shiloh Road looking 

East 

 
 

 

 

View of properties located across North Shiloh 

Road to the west from the subject site 

View of properties located to the north from subject 

site 



2333 23212325

2322 2314
2318 2310

23172321

2306
2326

P D  8 3 - 1 4 3P D  8 3 - 1 4 3

2246

2325
2329

N S
HI

LO
H 

RD

TREE TOP LN

RO
YA

LT
Y

DR

CHARIOT
LN

GRAND
VILLA LN

HOLFORD RD
LA

NC
EC

RE
ST

 DR

ARAPAHO RD

AR
RO

WC
RE

ST
 LN

STONECASTLE
DR

WILD OAK LNGLEN VISTA DR
BOTELLO

RD

ARROWCREST CT

LA
RG

O 
TR

L

WALNUT GROVE LN

GLEN HEIGHTS DR

JASMINE
LN

S F - 7S F - 7

S F - 7S F - 7

P D  8 3 - 1 4 3P D  8 3 - 1 4 3

P D  9 9 - 4 9P D  9 9 - 4 9

P DP D
0 2 - 2 80 2 - 2 8

P D  9 9 - 1 4P D  9 9 - 1 4

P D  9 7 - 6 0P D  9 7 - 6 0
P D  8 6 - 3 5P D  8 6 - 3 5

S F AS F A

P D  2 0 - 3 5P D  2 0 - 3 5 P D  0 8 - 4 5P D  0 8 - 4 5

S F - 7S F - 7

S F - 7S F - 7

A GA G

P DP D
1 4 - 0 91 4 - 0 9

S  1 5 - 3 4S  1 5 - 3 4

S  2 0 - 4 3S  2 0 - 4 3

P D  1 7 - 3 2P D  1 7 - 3 2

P DP D
1 3 - 2 81 3 - 2 8

A GA G
P DP D

1 7 - 4 01 7 - 4 0

P D  1 9 - 0 6P D  1 9 - 0 6

P D  2 1 - 0 1P D  2 1 - 0 1

M F - 1M F - 1

P DP D
1 7 - 3 21 7 - 3 2

4413

2306

4801

2305

4305

2375

2302

2601

2256

4309

4217

2260

4805

2309

2645

4301

2301

2313

2350

2266

2475

2645

2402

2302

4680

2620 2602

2301

2401

4706

2359

2367

2387

2383

2379

2371

2363

4685

2476

ZONING MAP Z 22-64
¯

0 175 350 Feet 1 inch = 264 feet

4680 North Shiloh Road

INDICATES AREA
OF REQUEST

INDICATES 
NOTIFICATION AREA



To date we have not received any responses for this case. 


	Agenda
	AI_7400_Plan Commission Minutes for November 21, 2022
	       ATT_Plan Commission Minutes for November 21, 2022
	AI_7404_Amendment to Plan Commission Meeting Schedule
	AI_7405_Z 22-17 Claudia Rodriguez - Zoning (District 5)
	       ATT_Z 22-17  Claudia Rodriguez Report and Attachments (Zoning)
	       ATT_Z 22-17 Claudia Rodriguez Responses
	AI_7406_Z 22-17 Claudia Rodriguez - Detail Plan (District 5)
	       ATT_Z 22-17  Claudia Rodriguez Report and Attachments (Detail Plan)
	       ATT_Z 22-17 Claudia Rodriguez Responses
	AI_7407_Z 22-61 LandDesign, Inc. - Zoning (District 7)
	       ATT_Z 22-61 LandDesign, Inc. Report and Attachments (Zoning)
	       ATT_Z 22-61 LandDesign, Inc. Responses
	AI_7408_Z 22-63 Quiddity Engineering, LLC. - Zoning (District 1)
	       ATT_Z 22-63  Quiddity Engineering, LLC. Report and Attachments (Zoning)
	       ATT_Z 22-63 Quiddity Engineering, LLC. Responses
	AI_7410_Z 22-63 Quiddity Engineering, LLC. - Detail Plan (District 1)
	       ATT_Z 22-63  Quiddity Engineering, LLC. Report and Attachments (Detail Plan)
	       ATT_Z 22-63 Quiddity Engineering, LLC. Responses
	AI_7409_Z 22-64  Matt Moore - Specific Use Provision (District 7)
	       ATT_Z 22-64  Matt Moore Report and Attachments (Specific Use Provision)
	       ATT_Z 22-64  Matt Moore Responses
	AI_7411_Z 22-64  Matt Moore - Detail Plan (District 7)
	       ATT_Z 22-64  Matt Moore Report and Attachments (Detail Plan)
	Z 22-64 EXHIBITS.pdf
	Site Plan.pdf
	Landscape Plans 8.5x11
	A61 BUILDING ELEVS AND TRASH8511


	       ATT_Z 22-64  Matt Moore Responses



